Osage Nation Election Board Rules and Regulations



Table of Contents

RULE ONE – Rules and Regulations	2
Section 1. Authority	2
Section 2. Purpose	
Section 3. Definitions	
Section 4. Candidate Filing Fees & Requirements	5
Section 5. Political Action Committee Filing and Requirements	
Section 6. Campaign Code of Ethics	7
Section 7. Emergency Preparations	7
Section 8. Election Board Participation in Campaigns	8
RULE TWO – CAMPAIGN FINANCE REPORTING AND PRACTICE	9
Section 1. Campaign Reporting Requirements	9
Section 2. Campaign Reporting Statement Deadlines	
Section 3. Campaign Funding Restrictions and Prohibitions	12
Section 4. Use of Osage Government Resources Prohibited	
Section 5. Procedures and Penalties for Violations of These Rules	13
CERTIFICATION	16

RULE ONE – Rules and Regulations

Section 1. Authority

The Osage Nation Election Board ("Board") has the authority and responsibility to promulgate rules and regulations, concerning any matter within its jurisdiction pursuant to The Osage Nation Election Code ("Code"), as amended.

Section 2. Purpose

In an effort to ensure fair elections, the Board finds that it is necessary to develop rules and regulations for the proper operation of the Osage Nation's Elections for which the Board is responsible.

13	Section 3.	Definition	S		
14	For th	e purposes of	f these Rules, the following definitions apply:		
15					
16	A.	"Candidate" means any person who has publicly announced such intent,			
17		authorized _l	promotion for, or filed a declaration of candidacy or petition		
18		to appear o	to appear on the ballot for election as a tribal official, whether		
19		successfully	elected or not.		
20					
21	В.	"Campaign"	means a systematic course of activities by		
22					
23		1. Riva	political candidates or organizations supporting candidates		
24		seek	ing public office in the Osage Nation government, or		
25					
26		2. Grou	ups of individuals or organizations supporting or opposing		
27		ballo	ot issues to be considered by the Osage electorate.		
28					
29		3. "Can	npaign activities" or "campaign purposes" means		
30					
31		a.	selling, purchasing, or distributing campaign fundraiser		
32			tickets, including complimentary tickets;		
33					
34		b.	conducting campaign meetings;		
35					
36		c.	distributing campaign literature or materials;		
37					
38		d.	soliciting campaign assistance or support;		
39					
40		e.	producing campaign literature or materials, or storing such		
41			materials;		
42					
43		f.	traveling to or from campaign meetings; or		
44					
45		g.	encouraging voters to vote for or against a candidate or		
46			ballot issue.		
47					
48	C.	"Congress"	means the Osage Nation Legislative branch or Congress.		
49					
50	D. ·	"Donations"	means any self-donations, cash, goods, or services received		
51			idate or the campaign, from any business entity, individual, or		
52		family mem	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
53		•			
54	E.	"Executive	branch" means the Osage Nation Executive branch or		
55		Principal Ch	ief and Assistant Principal Chief.		

56 F. "Minor" means any person less than 18 years of age. 57 58 "Osage Nation equipment or software" is all tangible property or G. 59 software purchased for and leased or owned by the Osage Nation 60 government, which includes, but is not limited to, telephones, copy 61 machines, fax machines, computers, and vehicles. 62 63 Η. "Osage Nation premises or property" means property owned or leased by 64 the Osage Nation, excluding residential areas. It includes, but is not 65 limited to, Osage Nation offices, conference rooms, and working areas. 66 67 1. Osage Nation facilities that are available to the public for use may 68 also be used for campaign activities on the same basis as the 69 facilities are available to the public. 70 71 ... "Osage Nation supplies" means stationery, paper, stamps, and other 72 supplies normally associated with government offices. 73 74 J. "Osage Nation time" means the actual time during which an Osage 75 Nation official or employee is performing, or should be performing, his or 76 her duties as an Osage official or employee during normal operating 77 hours of the Osage Nation government. 78 79 K. "Personal use" means anything purchased for use outside the campaign. 80 81 L. "Petitioner" means an individual, group, or organization that presents a 82 petition. 83 84 M. "Political Action Committee ("Committee") means any individual, group, 85 or organization receiving donations or making expenditures for campaign 86 activities to support or oppose ballot issues to be considered by the 87 Osage electorate. 88 89 N. "Remedial action" includes, but is not limited to, orders for repayment of 90 costs associated with Board inquiries, corrections of reports required by 91 this Rule, and other actions consistent with the Board's authority and 92 Osage law. 93 94 95 96

97	Section 4. Candidate Filing Fees & Requirements						
98							
99	A.	The f	The filing fees shall be as follows:				
100			Ü				
101		1.	Princip	al Chief	Ś	\$500.00	
102			•				
103		2.	Assista	nt Principal Chief	Ş	\$400.00	
104				,	•		
105		3.	Congre	ssional Candidates	\$	\$300.00	
106			Ü		•		
107		4.	Judicia	Retention	Ş	0.00	
108	-				•		
109	В.	Pavm	ent shal	l be by debit/credit c	ard.	, cashier's check, or money order,	
110		-		•		ccount. No personal checks shall be	
111		accep		1 0		•	
112							
113	C.	Prior	to filing	for office, candidates	s sh	all be required to:	
114			0	,		•	
115		1.	Establis	sh a separate bank ac	COL	unt to be used for campaign	
116				•		he candidate or the candidate's	
117			campa	•			
118			•				
119			a.	All campaign donat	ions	s shall be deposited into this	
120						candidate's personal funds used for	
121				campaign purposes		•	
122				, , ,			
123			b.	All expenditures use	ed f	for campaign purposes shall be	
124			spent from this account.				
125				•			
126			C.	Failure to use this a	ссо	ount for any and all donations and	
127						ult in a fine pursuant to Rule Two,	
128				Section 5(G).		•	
129				· · .			
130		2.	Provide	e proof of the establis	she	d campaign account upon filing that	
131			shows	the account name an	nd n	umber.	
132	•						
133	D.	Each	candida [.]	te shall be required t	o fil	le for candidacy in person at the	
134				•		') located in Pawhuska, Oklahoma.	
135		-		·			
136	E.	After	the clos	e of the filing period,	, de	cisions certifying or disqualifying	
137						thin four (4) business days after the	
138				background checks.		·	
139							

140	Section 5.	Politic	cal Action Committee Filing and Requirements
141			
142	A.		duals, groups, or organizations receiving donations for campaign
143			ties to support or oppose ballot issues to be considered by the
144		_	e electorate shall file a statement of organization with the Board
145		before	e the commencement of campaign activities.
146		_	
147		1.	Upon filing, provide proof of a separate bank account that shows
148			the account name and number.
149			
150	B.	Prior t	to filing, committees shall be required to:
151			
152		1.	Designate an individual responsible for the filing of required
153			documents and reports;
154			
155		2.	Establish a separate bank account to be used for campaign
156			purposes only in the name of the individual, group, or
157			organization;
158			
159		3.	All campaign donations shall be deposited into this account,
160			including the committee's personal funds used for campaign
161			purposes.
162			
163		4.	All expenditures used for campaign purposes shall be spent from
164			this account.
165			
166		5.	Failure to use this account for any and all donations and
167			expenditures shall result in a fine pursuant to Rule Two, Section
168			5(G).
169			
170	C.	Comn	nittees shall be required to file a statement of organization in
171		perso	n at the Osage Nation Election Office ("Office") located in
172		Pawh	uska, Oklahoma.
173			
174	D.	Any ir	ndividuals, groups, or organizations violating this section shall be
175		referr	ed to the Osage Nation Attorney General's Office for further legal
176		action	l.
177			
178			
179			
180			

181	Section 6. Campaign Code of Ethics			
182			•	
183	Durin	g their ca	ampaign, candidates and committees shall:	
184		•		
185		1.	Comply with all laws and regulations of the Osage Nation;	
186				
187		2.	Avoid even the appearance of impropriety;	
188				
189		3.	Refrain from abusive conduct, personal charges, or verbal affronts	
190	•		upon the character, motives, or intents of other officials,	
191			employees, or Osage citizens;	
192				
193		4.	Not hinder or obstruct the proper administration of the Osage	
194			Nation government, officials, or employees in the administration	
195			of their duties;	
196				
197		5.	Not use elected positions to influence or otherwise effect	
198			government decisions for personal gain;	
199				
200		6.	Not gift or promise future benefit in exchange for preferential	
201			treatment;	
202				
203		7.	Refrain from the use of tribal resources when not acting in an	
204			official capacity;	
205				
206		8.	Abstain from influencing or in any manner attempting to influence	
207			any vote, official decision or determination which would favor or	
208			advance such person's personal interest in such matter; and	
209		_		
210		9.	Refrain from using tribal positions to improperly influence	
211			deliberations, administrations, or decisions of Board proceedings.	
212				
213	Section 7.	Emerg	gency Preparations	
214			· •	
215	Α.	The Bo	pard shall assure that to the extent of their ability, the balloting	
216	7 1,		ot be interrupted due to power outages or inclement weather.	
217		Jiidii II	or so interrupted and to porter outages of intermedic weather.	
218	В.	The Bo	pard may utilize back-up power sources to operate the balloting	
219			nent should the electrical power fail during the election process.	
220		1 P	P	
221	C.	Should	the inhabitants of the polling place be required to take cover due	
222			rnado warning, the Board shall make every effort to secure the	

balloting device to prevent any tampering with the balloting device or the absentee ballots, so received and segregated. Section 8. Election Board Participation in Campaigns A. No Board member, Board contractor, or Office employee shall participate in any event in support of or opposition to a particular candidate or issue. В. Such prohibition on participation shall not prevent any qualified Osage Nation Voter from casting his or her vote for the candidate or ballot issue of his or her choice during the balloting process. C. Such prohibition on participation shall include the following: attending any candidate campaign/fundraiser event, making donations to candidates, wearing buttons or clothing in support of a particular candidate or issue; volunteering to assist a candidate with mailings or any other activities generally considered to be campaigning, or defined as "Campaign Activities" or "Campaign purposes". D. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Board members, Board contractors, and Office employees shall be permitted to attend nonpartisan community functions.

264 RULE TWO – CAMPAIGN FINANCE REPORTING AND PRACTICE

265	Section 1.	Campaign Reporting Requirements
266	_	
267	A.	All donations, including self-donations, for any and all campaign
268		purposes, shall be deposited into the campaign account. All expenditures
269		for any and all campaign purposes shall be spent from the campaign
270		account. Failure to use this account for any and all donations and
271		expenditures shall result in a fine pursuant to Rule Two, Section 5(G),
272		except as follows:
273		
274		1. Electronic transfer fees charged that cannot be deposited or spent
275		from the campaign account shall be reported and are exempt
276		from the Failure to Use Account fine.
277		
278	В.	The first report filed shall include donations and expenditures from the
279		beginning of the campaign, whether or not such campaign began prior to
280		the official candidate filing period.
281		
282	C.	The last report filed shall include outstanding donations and
283		expenditures.
284	5	A should and forms for a surrounding or settlement to the state of the
285	D.	A standard form for campaign reporting statements, including deadlines,
286		shall be provided by the Board.
287	F	The committee and the state of the little constitution of the little consti
288	E.	The campaign reporting statement shall be completed electronically,
289 290		except for the signature, which shall be handwritten, and accompanied
290		by bank documentation showing the campaign account deposits and
292		expenditures from the campaign reporting period start date until the end date.
293		uate.
294	F.	Campaign reporting statements shall include the balance of funds at the
295	1.	time of the end date.
296		time of the end date.
297	G.	All donations recorded in the campaign reporting statement shall include
298	J .	the following information for each donor:
299		the following information for each dollor.
300		1. First and last names of each donor or the name of the business
301		entity;
302		Charley,
303		2. Employer, or indicate self-employment or unemployment, if
304		known;
305		MIOWII,
~ ~ ~		

306		3.	The date the donation was made to the candidate or campaign;
307		4	
308 309		4.	The amount of the donation; and
310		5.	The equivalent of evals assessed in seads as complete from an
		э.	The equivalent of such amount in goods or services from an
311			individual or family received by the candidate or the campaign;
312		c	The general consists of valuations shall be assessed
313		6.	The general services of volunteers shall be exempt.
314		۱۱۸ میر	on and its construction and adding the angular state of a state of
315	Н.		openditures recorded in the campaign reporting statement shall
316		inciu	de the following:
317			
318		1.	The name of the individual or vendor receiving the campaign
319			funds;
320		2	
321 322		2	The goods or services received in return for the expenditure;
323		3.	The date of the expenditure; and
324		J.	The date of the expenditure, and
325		4.	The amount of the expenditure.
326		٦.	The amount of the expenditure.
327	I.	Camr	paign reporting statements shall be filed with the Office, which shall
328	1.	-	y that the campaign reporting statements comply with the provisions
329		-	is Rule and submit a report of findings to the Board.
330		oi tili	is rule and subline a report of findings to the board.
331		1.	The Board shall:
332		4.	The board shan.
333			a. certify campaign reporting statements, or
334			a. certify campaign reporting statements, or
335			b. notify the candidate or campaign by email if any errors are
336			found in the statement.
337			Todad in the statement.
338		2.	For campaign reporting statements submitted by the deadline,
339		۷.	candidates or committees shall have three (3) business days, upon
340			the date email notification is sent by the Office, to correct the
341			errors and report such corrections to the Office. If, after the three
342			(3) day period, the Board rules the errors are not corrected, the
343			candidate or committees shall be subject to adjudication as
344			provided by Rule Two, Sections 5(A), 5(D), and 5(E).
345			provided by ridle 1 wo, Sections 3(A), 3(D), and 3(L).
346		3.	Candidates or committees failing to submit campaign reporting
347		J.	statements by the deadline shall result in a fine and penalties
348			pursuant to Rule Two, Section 5(E). Failure to comply within three
349			months shall prohibit the individual from being certified as a
シサフ			mondis shan prombit the muividual nom being tertified as a

350				ommittee for future e		•
351		ap	peal the den	iial of candidacy purs	uant to Rule Tw	o, Section 5(I).
352						
353				nall not preclude a fin	- '	
354				n violated if errors in	the reporting st	atements are
355		sul	bsequently r	evealed.		
356						
357				I take no action agair	ist candidates a	ifter candidates
358		ha	ve taken Oa	th of Office.		
359						
36Ô	Section 2.	Campaig	n Reporti	ng Statement De	adlines	
361			•	_		
362	A.	All report	s shall be file	ed by the close of bus	iness on the fil	ing deadline.
363	,	,		ad by and diose of but	in cos on the m	B acaaiii.c.
364	В.	Deadlines	and reporting	ng periods in subsect	ions C and E are	e listed using
365			= = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =	esents the number of		_
366			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ber is preceded by a p	•	
367			=	er of calendar days aft		
368		•		•		•
369	C.	Executive	candidates s	shall follow the sched	ule below:	
370						
		Report	Filing	Reporting	g Period	
		Number	Deadline	Start	End	
		E1	189	Campaign start	192	
		E2	161	191	164	
		E3	133	163	136	
		E4	103	135	104	
		E5	91	103	94	
		E6	63	93	66	
		E7	35	65	38	
		E8	5	37	6	
		E9	+7	5	+ 4	
371		hanner of the second se	***************************************			_
372	D.	If a prima	ry election is	required, executive	candidates that	will not be
373			-	e general election sha		
374		report.			-	

D.	If a primary election is required, executive candidates that will not be
	moving forward to the general election shall file report E5 as their last
	report.

E. Legislative candidates and committees shall follow the schedule below:

Report	Filing
Number	Deadline
C1	112

Reporting Period				
Start	End			
Campaign start	115			

C2	91
C3	63
C4	35
C5	5
C6	+7

114	94
93	66
65	38
37	6
5	+ 4

Section 3. Campaign Funding Restrictions and Prohibitions

A. Campaign funds shall not be used for personal use of a candidate, employee, or volunteer of the candidate's campaign, or any third party.

B. Donations and other funds collected by a candidate or committee for shall be used for campaign purposes or other purposes expressly allowed in this section.

C. Minors are prohibited from making donations to candidates or committees. No person shall be allowed, nor shall any candidate or committee accept, a donation in the name of a minor person. Minors are allowed to serve as campaign volunteers.

D. A candidate or committee shall not accept any donation of any kind from a business entity, if such business entity is owned in whole or in part by the Osage Nation or operated by or for the benefit of the Osage Nation.

Section 4. Use of Osage Government Resources Prohibited

A. The use of Osage Nation funds, time, equipment, supplies, or Osage Nation premises (as defined in Rule 1, Section 3 (H)) for campaign activities or campaign purposes is strictly prohibited, with the following exception:

Beginning at noon on the Friday before Election Day through 4:00 p.m. the day after Election Day, campaign materials shall be allowed on Osage Nation premises in the areas of the campaign campsites and within the boundaries of each candidate's campsite only.

B. The performance of campaign tasks or activities by Osage Nation personnel on Osage Nation time is prohibited.

413 C. Candidates or committees shall contact the Office for issues with Osage 414 Nation equipment, supplies, or premises that directly affect their 415 campaign activities. 416 417 D. Candidates or committees shall not use funds from the Osage Nation 418 government or any of its subsidiaries for travel expenses to attend any 419 meeting that is publicly presented as a candidate forum or contains a 420 candidate forum for the next election as an agenda item. 421 422 E. The use of Osage Nation mail service for campaign purposes is 423 prohibited, with the exception of paid campaign advertising in the Osage 424 News or its successor. 425 426 F. The use of Osage Nation telephones, computers, servers, or electronic 427 mail accounts for campaign purposes is prohibited. This prohibition shall 428 not be interpreted to mean that candidates or committee individuals are 429 prohibited from using Osage Nation electronic mail or telephones to 430 fulfill their official duties. 431 432 G. Individual Osage Nation elected officials and employees are prohibited 433 from engaging in campaign fundraising activities through the solicitation 434 of contributions from: 435 436 1. Their subordinates, or 437 438 2. Businesses such individuals may supervise, or 439 440 3. Businesses such individuals may inspect, regulate, or monitor in 441 the fulfillment of their job responsibilities. 442 Section 5. Procedures and Penalties for Violations of These Rules 443 444 445 Α. Any candidate who commits a campaign violation may be disqualified, 446 removed from the race, and his or her votes shall be considered void. 447 448 B. Any funds found to have been improperly donated or not reported shall 449 be subject to forfeiture and paid into the Osage Nation Election Fund. 450 451 C. Campaign signs shall not be posted on any Osage Nation premises or 452 property. If a campaign sign is posted on any Osage Nation premises or 453 property: 454

455 1. The candidate shall be notified to remove the sign; or 456 457 2. The sign can be removed by any party and returned to the Office 458 where the candidate may pick up the campaign signs after signing 459 a receipt for the campaign signs. 460 461 After the candidate or committee is notified that the sign a. 462 is at the Office, he or she shall have ten (10) days to 463 reclaim it. 464 465 D. Any candidate or committee deemed to have violated any of the Osage 466 Nation Election Board Rules and Regulations herein shall be subject to a 467 fine of up to one thousand dollars (\$1,000), unless otherwise specified. 468 469 E. Candidates or committees who fail to submit their campaign reporting 470 statements by the required deadlines pursuant to Rule Two, Section 2, 471 shall be assessed a fine of five hundred dollars (\$500). Failure to comply 472 shall prohibit the candidate from filing for office for future elections until 473 the fine is paid. 474 475 F. Candidates or committees who fail to submit their corrected errors by 476 the deadline shall be assessed a fine of one hundred twenty-five dollars 477 (\$125). 478 479 G. Candidates or committees who fail to use their campaign bank account 480 shall be assessed a fine of one hundred twenty-five dollars (\$125) for the 481 first offense and an increase of twenty-five dollar (\$25) increments for 482 each offense throughout their campaign. 483 484 Н. All fines that were assessed eight (8) calendar days or more prior to 485 Election Day shall be paid by 4:30 p.m. the Wednesday preceding Election 486 Day. If the candidate fails to comply, all votes for that candidate shall be 487 considered void, and the Election Supervisor shall post a notice of this fact at the polling places and on the Office website. 488 489 490 1. All fines assessed seven (7) calendar days prior to Election Day or after 491 shall be paid by 4:30 p.m. on the deadline date set by the Board. 492 493 J. Unpaid fines shall be referred to the Attorney General's Office 494 immediately following the unmet deadline. 495 496 K. Any candidate penalized for a violation of these regulations may seek 497 reconsideration of the decision by filing a written appeal with the Board

498		within two (2) business days after receiving notice of such penalty from		
499		the Board.		
500				
501		1.	The appeal shall set forth in detail the basis for the appeal,	
502			including all facts and legal authority supporting the appealing	
503			party's contention that the penalty is unwarranted.	
504				
505		2.	The appealing party shall attach all supporting documentation to	
506			the appeal, including all affidavits, photographs, and other	
507			documentary evidence.	
508				
509		3.	The appealing party bears the burden of proof.	
510				
511		4.	The Election Board shall issue a written decision within five (5)	
512			business days following the filing of the appeal. The Election	
513			Board shall notify the appealing party of the decision in writing.	
514				
515	L.	Any p	person violating the 12 ONC § 8-103, in any manner by initiating an	
516		unaut	thorized recall petition shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon	
517		convi	ction, shall be subject to the maximum penalties allowed by federal	
518		law.		
519				
520	M.	Any p	erson violating the 12 ONC § 8-102 and 12 ONC § 8-104 in any	
521		mann	er by initiating an unauthorized initiative or referendum petition	
522		shall	be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, shall be subject to	
523		the m	naximum penalties allowed by federal law.	

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the above and foregoing Osage Nation Election Board Rules and Regulations were considered by the Osage Nation Election Board, at a duly called meeting in Pawhuska, Oklahoma, at which a quorum was present and the same was adopted by a vote of 3 in favor, 0 opposed, 0 abstentions, and 0 absent, on this 2nd day of October, 2025.

Shannon Pease Lockett, Chair Osage Nation Election Board

Attest:

Alexis Rencountre Elections Director